
PLAYBOY INTERVIEW: JOHN DE AN 
a candid conversation with the man who blew the whistle on richard nixon 

When he was a boy, he had been 
caught at some mischief and tried to 
worm his way out of it. "You're cor-
nered, son," his father said, "and when 
you're cornered, there's only one way out: 
Tell the truth." That made sense to John 
Wesley Dean III, and some 30 years 
later—trapped this time in a web of in-
trigue he had helped weave around the 
White House—it still did. In March of 
1973, Dean decided to tell everything he 
knew—or at least everything he had to—
about the spreading scandal that had 
come to be known as Watergate. He 
knew plenty. 

That June, with encyclopedic recall, 
the 36-year-old former Presidential coun-
sel testified for five days before the Ervin 
committee—and an estimated 80,000,000 
television viewers—about the political 
paranoia and ethical pragmatism that 
had led to the creation of a covert 
White House intelligence operation—
the "plumbers"—that had not only com-
mitted the original break-in at the 
Democrats' Watergate headquarters and 
the burglary of Daniel Ellsberg's psy-
chiatrist's office but also laid plans to 
activate fire bombers, mugging squads, 
kidnaping teams and prostitution rings 
for the purpose of sabotaging the politi-
cal opposition. 

Dean also told about a far-reaching 
conspiracy to cover up these C rimes.a  

conspiracy that involved blackmail, hush 
money, perjury, destruction of evidence, 
even a death threat directed at White 
House aide Jeb Stuart Magruder by 
G. Gordon Liddy, mercurial leader of the 
plumbers. Dean testified that the cover-
up, which had involved nearly every high-
ranking member of the White House 
staff, had been orchestrated by Presiden-
tial lieutenants H. R. Haldeman and 
John Ehrlichman with—and this was 
Dean's biggest bombshell—the express 
knowledge and consent of the President 
himself. Dean also confessed that his own 
transgressions included making a clem-
ency offer to Watergate burglar James Mc-
Cord in exchange for his silence, coaching 
Magruder about how to lie on the stand 
and attempting to spirit E. Howard Hunt, 
another of the Watergate break-in team, 
out of the country. He did not then 
admit, as he was later forced to do, that 
he had also tossed two of Hunt's note-
books, containing incriminating evidence, 
into a White House shredder. 

At his subsequent trial, however, Dean 
pleaded guilty only to one charge—con-
spiring to obstruct justice by hiding the 
truth about the Watergate operation—a 
deal worked out with former Special 
Prosecutor Archibald Cox in exchange 
for his cooperation as a witness. Dean 
sought to lighten his sentence further by 
emphasizing the role he said he had  

played—eventually corroborated by the 
White House tapes—in trying to end the 
cover-up. But he understressed his role—
also confirmed by the tapes--as an ef-
ficient executor of, even a cheerleader for, 
the Administration's repressive policies. 
And on September 3, 1974, Dean ex-
changed his Brooks Brothers suit for 
prison denims and began to serve the one-
to-four-year term to which he had been 
sentenced by Chief U. S. District Court 
Judge John J. Silica. 

It was a stunning end for one of the 
strangest success stories in American polit-
ical history. Son of a prosperous Pennsyl-
vania corporation vice-president, Dean 
had begun his career correctly, if inauspi-
ciously, with a fora•-year stint at Virginia's 
ramrod-straight Staunton Military Acad-
emy, where he roomed with Barry Gold-
water, Jr. (still a close friend). At Wooster 
College in Ohio, Dean was only a C stu-
dent majoring in political science, but he 
became known around campus as a coolly 
aggressive and relentless debater. He 
didn't make many friends, but his room-
mate recalls that Dean would sometimes 
accept five dollars or so—though he didn't 
need it—to write themes for other stu-
dents and that he always delivered the 
grade they requested. 

During a semester away from Wooster 
at .American University in Washington, 
D.C., Dean met Karla Hennings, the 

"I tried to give President Nixon good ad-
vice, but I didn't have the courage to tell 
him, 'You're dead wrong.' Rather, I told 
him, 'If you want me to go out and sell 
Wheaties, I'll sell Wheaties.'" 

"I think the decision not to prosecute 
Nixon will influence his role in history. 
There's also the question of whether or not 
there will be further revelations involving 
him. I believe there will be. Big ones." 

VERNON L. SMITH 

"The severity of my sentence surprised 
me. I had never perjured myself, I had 
not been involved in planning the cover-
up and the record is clear that, in my own 
way, I had tried to stop it." 	 65 
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blonde daughter of Missouri's Democratic 
Senator Tom Hennings. After his grad-
uation from Wooster in 1961, they got 
married, and Dean enrolled at George-
town Law School, where a fellow student 
recalls that "he always looked like he'd 
just stepped out of the shower, even 
after a four-hour exam." And as a young 
attorney in 1965, Dean had no trouble 
landing a $7500-a-year job with Welch and 
Morgan, a Washington firm that special-
ized in communications law, mostly in 
procuring TV licenses for its clients. Six 
months later, however, Dean was sum-
marily fired after an angry dispute with 
the firm's senior partner, who charged 
him with unethical conduct involving a 
conflict of interest. An associate at Welch 
and Morgan remembers Dean as "a very 
ambitious guy . . . had political connec-
tions. Well, you marry a Senator's daugh-
ter, you're bound to get a job on the Hill." 

How right he was. Within two months, 
despite the circumstances of his departure 
from the law firm, Dean was hired as 
chief minority counsel on the House 
Judiciary Committee. After a year on 
the $7800 job, Dean left to become asso-
ciate director of the National Commis-
sion for the Reform of Federal Criminal 
Law—at $25,000 a year. Moonlighting 
with other Republican lawyers on Capitol 
Hill, he helped write the crime-related 
position papers used by Nixon in his 
4968 ..law-and-order campaign and was 
rewarded after the election with an ap-
pointment as Associate Deputy Attorney 
General under John Mitchell. 

In the course of his duties, Dean con-
ferred often with Nixon speechwriter Pat 
Buchanan and with Egil Krogh, chief 
lieutenant of White House third-in-
command John Ehrlichman, who was 
favorably impressed with his ability and 
malleability, and in June of 1970, he was 
invited to join the White House staff as 
chief counsel—at $37,500. He accepted on 
the spot. 

All went well for a while, although 
Dean, with his Ivy League wardrobe, his 
maroon Porsche, his taste for wine and his 
busy social life (he had quietly divorced 
Karla before going to the White House), 
wasn't exactly in synch with the white-
socks-and-cottage-cheese style of the Nixon 
White House staff. On a personal level, 
he and the imperious Ehrlichman nur-
tured a cordial dislike for each other; 
but he claims to have worked well—and 
become close friends—with the even more 
imperious Haldeman. This amicability 
began to deteriorate early in 1972, how-
ever, as Dean was drawn increasingly away 
from his legal responsibilities into closed-
door sessions with Mitchell—chief law-
enforcement officer of the United States—
and seamy characters such as Hunt, Liddy 
and Special Counsel Charles Colson about 

56 million-dollar plans for campaign "dirty  

tricks." One of the covert operations ap-
proved at a subsequent meeting was car-
ried out on the night of June 17, 1972: 
a mission headed by Hunt and Liddy to 
break into and bug the Democratic Na-
tional Headquarters at the Watergate. As 
the world knows by now, a piece of tape 
left carelessly on a door led to their arrest, 
precipitating a chain reaction that finally 
engulfed the Administration in the big-
gest political scandal in American history. 

As each fresh revelation shoved the 
blame closer to the Oval Office, Dean 
was dragged deeper into what he finally 
told Nixon were "indictable" acts that 
wouldn't stop this "cancer on the Presi-
dency" from spreading. But his warnings 
were ignored. Eventually, Dean could 
take no more, and resolved to cure the 
cancer—or at least to save himself from 
being consumed by it—by telling the 
truth. 

What he did choose to tell he recited in 
awesome and appalling detail, and while 
the backlash branded him a liar and a 
turncoat, the White House concocted a 
position paper charging Dean with master-
minding not only the cover-up but also the 
conspiracy itself. And when that wouldn't 
play, it tried floating a rumor that he'd 
cheated on his new wife, Maureen. As ex-
plosive as his testimony was, it was still 
Dean's word against that of the President 
of the United States, and the doubts lin-
gered among diehards until the release of 
the first tape transcripts confirmed Dean's 
version of events—and effectively put the 
lie to Nixon's. 

By the time the "smoking-gun" tape 
collapsed the President's last line of de-
fense, forcing him to resign, Dean had 
been convicted and was about to go to 
prison. Having witnessed at last the death 
scene of an epic drama he had helped 
write, did he think he had finally won, or 
that Nixon had lost? What, if anything, 
had he—and we—learned from what 
President Ford had called "our long na-
tional nightmare"? For the answers to 
these and other questions, we sent Los 
Angeles journalist and broadcaster Bar-
bara Cady to interview Dean a few days 
before his prison term began. (When 
President Ford pardoned Nixon, a cou-
ple of questions dealing with that topic 
were sent to Dean and answered—in writ-
ing, due to prison regulations—a few 
weeks after this interview took place.) 
Here is Cady's report: 

"People magazine had used the word 
cheeriness to describe John Dean's hilltop 
home in Beverly Hills, but I found it 
more of a sunny fortress with all the 
charm and warmth of Peenen2iinde, 
Wernher von Braun's World War Two 
rocket bunker. Two U. S. Marshals, look-
ing like well-dressed bouncers, stared 
sullenly down through wrap-around sun-
glasses from a second-story picture win-
dow in the guest house nearby. Hurrying  

out the front door, Dean greeted me and, 
looking briefly up over his shoulder at his 
guardians, led me inside. 

"Decorated in California-Georgetown 
with comfortable earth-toned furnishings, 
the living room told a good deal about 
Dean's quick move to Los Angeles. The 
tall bookshelves were sparsely filled with 
expensive art books and current best sell-
ers; unhung pictures stood leaning against 
two walls; personal mementos were con-
spicuously absent. 

"As I was setting up my tape recorder, 
Mo Dean came into the room briefly to 
greet me and tell her husband about her 
afternoon shopping plans. She kissed him 
goodbye and left. Dean then settled him-
self on one of the two long couches that 
faced each other in the center of the room. 
In the language of the Fifties, he looked 
sharp. In his V-neck cashmere sweater, 
but ton down oxford shirt, razor-creased 
slacks and polished black loafers, with his 
owlish tortoise-rimmed glasses and neatly 
parted short brown hair, he was an Ivy 
League Wally Cox. 

"It was easy to see how Haldeman and 
Ehrlichman could have underestimated 
Dean. As a friend had cruelly put it, he 
was only a 'pilot fish' that swam around 
the sharks. But for all his Town and 
Country Eastern breeding, there was 
something of the shark about him, too. 
Despite his disavowals, Dean had been 
very much one of 'the boys in the Bund,' 
as someone had called the White House 
senior staff, if only in the sense that his 
ethics seemed governed not by what was 
right but by what worked. In telling me, 
before I turned on the tape recorder, that 
hi felt there was no difference between 
Republicans and Democrats, Dean was 
telling me that he worked for Nixon less 
because he admired him or his policies 
than because he was the President. Sub-
sequent events also made it clear that he 
worked less for the President than he did 
for himself. 

"Often smiling wryly, Dean refused to 
answer many of my questions that dealt 
specifically with Watergate matters still 
in litigation. It was impossible for me to 
coax him from his gag-rule stance, but fre-
quently, as he talked around certain ques-
tions, eluded those that he would be 
compelled to answer at the cover-up trial 
and dropped coy hints of 'more to come,' 
details surfaced, personalities emerged—
most of all, and perhaps unintentionally, 
his own. Until now, the dimensions of 
Watergate had been defined almost en-
tirely in terms of tapes, transcripts, affi-
davits, testimony. In breaking his silence, 
if only to speak so warily, Dean has added 
at least a footnote—or perhaps it's only 
a preamble—to the story of his own place 
in history." 

PLAYBOY: Your fall from Government 
was as meteoric as your rise within it. Do 
you have the bends? 
DEAN: All I can say is that this has been 
an amazing education for me. It would 
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take a week to tell you everything I've 
learned—especially about myself. Since 
we're starting this interview now, and 
in a week I'll be in prison, let me say 
simply that this has been the most ma-
turing experience of my life. There's a 
kind of sobering irony, for example, in 
the fact that my Government career 
ended where it began, before the House 
Judiciary Committee. After a very short 
stint in private practice, I became chief 
minority counsel for that committee, and 
it was before it, on the other side of the 
desk, that I appeared as a witness in the 
impeachment inquiry against the Presi-
dent of the United States. It's mind-blow-
ing when you think about it. 
PLAYBOY: Another irony is the fact that 
your departure from Government re-
sulted in your emergence, in the wake of 
the Ervin committee hearings, as a kind 
of media star. Has this strange new status 
disrupted your life in any way? 
DEAN: Well, it's become a fish-bowl exist-
ence. There's nowhere I go—airports, 
restaurants, supermarkets—that I'm not 
recognized, even when I'm wearing dark 
glasses. I suppose it's not surprising. 
though, considering the fact that I was 
seen on television all day every day for five 
days in June 1973 by around 80,000,000 
people. 
PLAYBOY: What's the general reaction of 
the people who recognize you? Do you 
sense much hostility? 
DEAN: Not at. all. I guess if people feel it, 
they're ashamed to show it to my face. 
What I do get are double takes, you 
know, and the whispering, and the point-
ing. But no one has ever come up and 
spoken to me without saying something 
nice, and that's been delightful, as well 
as a great relief. 
PLAYBOY: How about your mail? 
DEAN: The mail has continued to be 
voluminous; in fact, it's out of hand. 
Most people write to say thank you. And 
they use the word courage a lot. I hope 
to thank them all someday for their kind 
words of support. 
PLAYBOY: What do they thank you for? 
DEAN: For telling them what was going on. 
PLAYBOY: And the rest of the letters? 
DEAN: Maybe one or two out of every 
100 calls me Aaron Burr, turncoat, fink. 
Those are the ones that aren't signed. 
PLAYBOY: Have you received any threats? 
DEAN: There have been threats from 
time to time from various official chan-
nels, as well as through the mail. 
PLAYBOY: What kind of official channels? 
DEAN: I'm afraid I can't be more specif-
ic. But they were serious enough so that 
the Special Prosecutor, Archibald Cox, 
thought I ought to have protection when 
I testified before the Senate. Protection 
was periodic during the summer after 
my testimony, and then it resumed again 
full time shortly after the first of 1974. 
I've had a U. S. Marshal with me 24 hours 

68 a day since then, so there's been a total 

loss of freedom. I only wish I'd received 
"good time" off my sentence for the loss of 
freedom this protective custody imposed 
on our lives. 
PLAYBOY: If the public in general seems 
not to bear you any malice, what about 
the people who were your pre-Watergate 
friends? Have you lost any? 
DEAN: Not any real ones. 
PLAYBOY: How do you feel about some of 
the other members of the White House 
staff—men you used to work with—who 
have since turned on you? 
DEAN: For some reason, I feel no bitter-
ness toward them. Surprise, disappoint-
ment, but no bitterness. 
PLAYBOY: No sense of personal betrayal? 
DEAN: Someday I'll have a lot of things 
to say about them that they won't want 
said. But I won't do it out of bitterness. 
I'll do it simply to tell what happened, 
for the sake of making the historical rec-
ord accurate and complete. All the chap-
ters of this story haven't been written 
yet, though. Not by any means. Maybe 
my own feelings will change; I don't 
know. 
PLAYBOY: What guilt do you feel about 
the role you, along with the others, 
played in the Watergate conspiracy? 
DEAN: I feel guilt about having misused 
my office to obstruct justice. The office 
itself now appears to me in a. far differ-
ent light than it did when I was a staff 
member with a fancy title. If the key 
White House tapes are ever made public, 
they will show that I was an agent rather 
than a principal in the conspiracy, but 
there's no question that I participated in 
the cover-up. The most haunting guilt I 
feel, however, is for taking so long to mus-
ter my own internal fortitude, to stand up 
and say, "I can't go any further." 
PLAYBOY: At the time the cover-up policy 
was begun, weren't you disturbed about 
having to help carry it out? 
DEAN: Yes, that did bother me in many 
ways. There were times after the 1972 
election when I was incapable of doing 
my work; I would just sit brooding about 
it. The nights were very tough at home; 
I drank too much, and I had trouble 
sleeping. But when I became aware of 
what had happened, I could see the pieces 
falling together, and I just couldn't per-
ceive of any alternative to covering up. 
There was virtually nobody I could talk 
to without getting him involved, and I 
didn't want to do that. 
PLAYBOY: Didn't you ever find anybody 
to confide in? 
DEAN: Once—early on—I talked to then–
Attorney General Dick Kleindienst in his 
office and told him as a friend that I was 
scared to death because I just didn't know 
what this meant for the country. Today 
he denies that happened, but I guess he 
has to. In any case, I was frightened be-
cause I thought it could go all the way to 

the top, to the President. It could shatter 
the image of the Presidency, affect all 
our relationships with foreign countries, 
change the course of history. But the Presi-
dent was busy trying to wind down the war 
in Vietnam, and that seemed to be more 
important than anything else; I believed 
that nothing should be allowed to jeop-
ardize that overriding mission. 

My God, with a weakened President, 
what would happen if the Russians 
misjudged the country? I used to lie 
awake nights with terrible thoughts like 
this. What could I do? Finally, after 
months of involvement, I decided to go 
to the prosecutors and tell them about 
my own role. When the questioning got 
into Bob Haldeman and John Ehrlich-
man, it bothered me very much because 
of Haldeman's importance to the way 
the President worked. Haldeman wasn't 
merely an efficient manager of the staff: 
He was also the President's sounding 
board on everything from our policy in 
Vietnam to the economy. I asked myself 
how I could tell the truth and cause the 
least damage. In my testimony before the 
Ervin committee, I preceded my prepared 
statement by saying that it was far easier 
for me to talk about myself than to talk 
about others, and that it especially hurt 
me to talk about the Presidency. 
PLAYBOY: Whomever you had to impli-
cate in your testimony, many people are 
convinced that you confessed only in 
order to save your neck, because you 
were certain you'd be exposed anyway. 
DEAN: It wasn't only the impossibility of 
continuing. I just couldn't live doing 
what I was doing, and finally I had to do 
something about it. It was the toughest 
decision I'll probably ever face in my life. 
PLAYBOY: Did you seek immunity from 
prosecution when you went to the Special 
Prosecutor's office? 
DEAN: When I hired Charlie Shaffer to 
be my lawyer, I told him I was prepared 
to step forward. Charlie said, "You don't 
have to run into machine guns to get the 
truth out, and if you want me as your 
lawyer, then let me do what's necessary. 
You should be a witness, not a defend-
ant." Later on, Sam Dash, the Senate 
Watergate Committee's majority counsel, 
told me he'd like me to have immunity 
before the committee. I told Sam that I 
was prepared to testify with immunity 
or without it. Sam knew that all along. 
PLAYBOY: Did you go to the prosecutors 
before or after the cover-up started.  to 
come unglued? 
DEAN: Before. My lawyer first visited the 
Prosecutor on April 2, 1973. The cover-up 
didn't really start coming apart until mid-
April; that's when they learned I had gone 
to the prosecutors early in the month and 
had already had sessions with them 
implicating Haldeman and Ehrlichman. 
PLAYBOY: But did you think, from what 
you knew as one of its supervisors, that 
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there were simply too many people in-
volved in the cover-up, that the truth 
was going to come out anyway? 
DEAN: I wasn't sure. But I knew it was 
possible to continue the cover-up. After 
McCord released his letter to Judge 
Sirica in March, there was a scurry of 
telephone calls around the White House. 
Our assessment was that none of us would 
be touched—that McCord would have 
been standing out there alone with his 
letter saying that higher-ups were in-
volved. There was that much insulation. 
The White House could not have been 
seriously hurt by the re-election com-
mittee if everybody had agreed to be less 
than truthful. However, by this time, in 
late March 1973, I had finally decided that 
I couldn't continue to go along with that. 
PLAYBOY: Weren't you awed by the 
thought of the vast repercussions your 
decision was bound to have? 
DEAN: Very much so. Also, it's never fun 
to be a tattletale. And, as I said, it was 
particularly unpleasant for me to have to 
tarnish the office of the President in 
public. But I had reached the conclusion 
that while it might be a little painful for 
me and my family, we were very small in 
a very large picture, and I felt I could 
be a catalyst for resolving it all. 
PLAYBOY: Was your week of testimony as 
anguishing as you'd anticipated? 
DEAN: I was tense, of course, but the real 
anguish had ended for me when I decided 
to tell what I knew. It's gas2 when you're 
telling the truth. So what I felt mainly 
was a deep sense of relief. There were a 
few unexpected strains, however. After 
my committee appearances each day, I'd 
go home and a lot of friends would come 
over and want to turn the television on 
and watch my testimony with me. That 
was something I just couldn't do. Once 
was enough. I was very familiar with 
what I'd said, and I really didn't want to 
hear it again. 

And the appearances were physically 
exhausting. You'll notice that in all the 
pictures of my Ervin committee testi-
mony, I'm always leaning forward. On the 
first day, Dash asked me to pull the mike 
toward me, but I couldn't, because the 
wire was too short. So I had to lean for-
ward in order to be heard. Later wit-
nesses had a longer wire, but I had to sit 
there the entire week bending forward, 
and by the end of the day, my back and 
neck were wrecked. When I got home at 
night I'd have to get them massaged. 
How's that for an excuse to get your wife 
to give you a back rub? Plus there was 
the strain of answering those questions. 
And you've got to sit down sometime and 
read aloud for six hours at a stretch to 
see what it does to your throat. 

Well, finally Friday came, and they 
wanted me to finish my testimony that day. 
because other witnesses were scheduled  

for the following week. I had been drink-
ing water all day because of my throat, 
and by late afternoon, I had to go to 
the bathroom so badly I was about ready 
to explode. So I asked my lawyer to get 
a signal to Dash that I had to take a 
break. But Charlie said, "If you inter-
rupt this now, you're going to be back 
here on Monday." So they're getting 
ready for their final round of questions 
and Gurney and Thompson are ready to 
throw their last bombs at me. And I'm sit-
ting there in almost unbearable pain—
but still drinking water for my throat. By 
the end of this last afternoon's session, my 
hands were starting to tremble. One or 
two newsmen picked that up and thought 
the Senators had hit on some sensitive 
area of questioning that had really rattled 
me. What was rattling me, of course, was 
that my back teeth were floating. But I 
didn't want to begin another week, so I 
just sat there until it was through. You 
can't believe how quickly I made it out of 
that room and around the corner to 
the john. 
PLAYBOY: You've been quoted as saying 
that Senator Weicker's "fishing" questions 
in the course of your testimony before the 
Ervin committee extracted certain things 
from you that you wouldn't have said 
otherwise, and that there were other 
things that the committee could have 
found out if it had asked. Have these 
things since come out? 
DEAN: Some. But some are not totally rel-
evant to any of the criminal investiga-
tions still going on. There will be a time, 
however, when I'll sit down and recon-
struct my years at the White House and 
they'll be a part of that. 
PLAYBOY: Would it be premature for this 
sort of thing to be made public now? 
DEAN: I think it would be at the time of 
this interview, because it could adversely 
affect the reputations of those currently 
under indictment and might influence 
the outcome of their trials. 
PLAYBOY: But shouldn't the public know 
the facts? 
DEAN: Yes, and I think I have a duty to 
history to explain these things. I plan to 
do it someday, but not now. I've already 
had a very handsome book contract of-
fered to me, but I turned it down at the 
request of the Special Prosecutor's office. 
PLAYBOY: Well, can you tell us if you've 
testified to everything you know about 
Nixon's involvement in Watergate and 
the cover-up? 
DEAN: Anything I might add to what I've 
testified about President Nixon's role in 
Watergate would involve others whose 
cases have not yet been resolved, so I'll 
have to demur on that one, too. 
PLAYBOY: What do you think would have 
happened if—prior to your testimony 
before the Ervin committee—Nixon had 
decided to tell the whole truth himself? 
DEAN: If the President had stepped for-
ward and told the American people 
what he'd done—and vowed to spend 
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the rest of his term making it up to 
them—I think a lot of people would 
have said, "Well, he's an awful man, but 
we might as well let him finish it out." 
PLAYBOY: Don't you think that a full, 
truthful confession would have sub-
jected him to impeachment or criminal 
prosecution? 
DEAN: I doubt it. Nobody would have 
pursued it. That was partially my think-
ing when I finally—on March 21, 1973—
went to see him about what was happen-
ing to the Presidency. It also came up in 
a later conversation when I told him I'd 
been to the Prosecutor. It was a difficult 
conversation for both of us. Before I left 
the office, I felt I had to raise my fear 
that he might be impeached. But I 
brought it up almost indirectly when 
I told him that I thought that if things 
were handled right, he would not be 

• impeached. The President said to me, 
with an almost nervous laugh and a 
smile, "Well, I assure you, John, it will 
be handled right and that won't happen." 
His decision, unfortunately, was to try to 
avoid impeachment by keeping the lid on, 
not by taking it off. The compulsion to 
hide—the conviction that telling the truth 
would mean curtains—was too strong. 
PLAYBOY: You said later that during that 
conversation with the President about 
impeachment, you had had a creepy feel-
ing that he was speaking for the record—
that he might be recording your conversa-
tion. Were you shocked when you found 
out that he had been taping you—and 
everyone else? 
DEAN: I was elated. After all, the White 
House and Nixon's supporters had been 
calling me a liar. I remember, after my 
appearance at the hearings, I was taking 
a few weeks off to relax at the beach in 
Florida and Dash called and said, "John, 
I'd like you to come back to Washing-
ton." And I said, "Is it important, Sam? 
I'd really like to spend another few days 
down here before I get back in the thick 
of things." And he said, "It's very impor-
tant!" So I flew back and met with Sam 
and one of the people on his staff at my 
house. Dash opened with some pleasant-
ries and a few general questions and I'm 
thinking, Why in the world does he want 
me back here for this? But finally he said 
to me, "John, you said you believed one of 
your conversations with the President was 
taped. Do you think all of his Oval Of-
fice and Executive Office Building con-
versations-c-ould-have been taped?" And 
I said, "Gee, I don't know, but I'll tell 
you how you could find out. First I 
would go to Albert Redman, the head 
of the White House Communications 
Agency, and subpoena him. He's a mili-
tary man and I think he'd be truthful, 
because he wants to protect his career 
and wouldn't want to be caught lying. If 
he doesn't know about it, the other people 
who would know about it would be the 
Secret Service." And Sam started smiling. 
"Well, we have hard information that all 



of the conversations were taped." And I 
said, "That's fantastic!" Sam told me later 
he was testing me to see what my reaction 
would be. Well, I was delighted, because 
it wouldn't be my word against every-
body else's anymore; there existed a docu-
mentary record that would corroborate 
everything I'd said in testimony. 
PLAYBOY: Were you indignant at being 
called a liar by White House representa-
tives and accused of masterminding the 
Watergate conspiracy? 
DEAN: No, flattered. They tried to make 
it look as if I had been virtually running 
the White House, if not the country- I 
didn't know I had been so powerful. For 
a while there, I couldn't believe they 
were talking about the same job I had 
as their legal gofer. But I don't think I 
was chosen to take the fall as much as I 
was selected as the enemy: I'd betrayed 
them. Last summer I picked up a book 
called President Nixon's Psychiatric Pro-
file, by Dr. Eli S. Chesen. It's a fasci-
nating book that's gotten almost no play, 
but I hope it does now, because Chesen 
has really captured the personality of 
Richard Nixon as I saw it. I hope that as 
more tapes become available, the doctor 
does a revised edition of his book, be-
cause it's fantastic and could be of use to 
historians and students of the Nixon 
Presidency. He explains from a psychia-
trist's standpoint why Nixon always has 
to have an enemy. He's always had one, 
and this timer was my turn; I'm sure 
I still am his enemy. 
PLAYBOY: Does that psychological need 
for an enemy account for what Jeb 
Stuart Magruder called the atmosphere 
of paranoia that pervaded the Nixon 
White House? 
DEAN: Well, it's tougher to account for 
than it is to describe, but I think you're 
right. Because had not the President 
wanted it that way, it wouldn't have 
been that way. 
PLAYBOY: And he hired the kind of guys 
who'd give him the service he wanted. 
DEAN: That's right. 
PLAYBOY: As one who was hired by him, 
did you feel that you could give that 
kind of service? 
DEAN: I don't know. Until the very end, 
I didn't work directly for the President. 
I worked for Haldeman and Ehrlichman. 
But I think when and if the key tapes are 
released, it will become dear that I tried 
to be his counsel and tell him when 
things were wrong; I did my best to give 
him good advice. I often found that the 
only way to persuade the President—or 
Haldeman and Ehrlichman—was to say. 
not that something was improper but 
that it was impractical. But however I 
put it, when he didn't take my advice, I 
didn't—at that time—have the courage 
to tell him, "Mr. President, you're dead 
wrong." Rather, I told him, "If you 
want me to go out and sell Wheaties. 
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occasions in the tape transcripts when 
I've surprised myself at how much I tried 
to please the President, at my almost 
unconscious impulse to say things I knew 
he wanted to hear. 
PLAYBOY: Is that what you were trying to 
do when, in response to Nixon's remarks 
about "getting" the people on the White 
House enemies list, you said, "What an 
exciting prospect"? 
DEAN: I'm afraid so. I was trying to in-
gratiate myself with him. It's as simple as 
that. I'm not proud of it, but I guess I'm 
not the first guy who ever tried to curry 
favor with the boss. 
PLAYBOY: Didn't you have a good deal to 
do with the preparation of the enemies 
list? 
DEAN: Let me give you a self-serving an-
swer, which happens to be true. It wasn't 
my idea to draw up the list. What hap-
pened was that Haldeman asked me to 
prepare a memo on the subject. I did, but 
my name wasn't even on it; I was embar-
rassed by having to prepare it. I deliber-
ately noted in it that I had to go to others 
to learn about how you screw your ene-
mies. Nor were the names on the list pre-
pared by my office; they came from Chuck 
Colson's office. I also passed the responsi-
bility for executing the project from my-
self to some project coordinator, whoever 
he might be. I felt I had fulfilled my as-
signment by writing the memo and passing 
it on to whoever was more interested in 
doing that sort of thing than I was. 
PLAYBOY: Do you know whose idea it was 
to draw up the list? 
DEAN: No, I don't know for certain. But 
I think that when the rest of the tapes are 
made public, you'll have a pretty good 
idea. 
PLAYBOY: Do you know why the list was 
drawn up, what criteria were used in de-
ciding who should appear on it? 
DEAN: Well, I never could figure out why 
Joe Namath was on the list. Maybe he 
was a member of the wrong ball club. At 
any rate, the list had him on the wrong 
ball club. 
PLAYBOY: Were he and the others on the 
list considered dangerous to the Admin-
istration? 
DEAN: Maybe not in Namath's case, unless 
he had refused to follow a recommended 
Presidential football play. But I can per-
ceive the mentality that would feel that 
way about some of the others, because I 
saw it around me all the time. 
PLAYBOY: The vindictiveness, you mean? 
DEAN: A bit of vindictiveness. You know: 
We've got the power now and, by golly, 
we'll show them that we can let them 
have it when they try to fool with us. 
PLAYBOY: That sounds like Colson. 
DEAN: I think some of the tapes will 
show that even Chuck Colson's atti-
tudes didn't always originate with Chuck 
Colson. 
PLAYBOY: But from above? 

DEAN: Above. 
PLAYBOY: Can you tell us who? 
DEAN: Not now, I'm afraid. 
PLAYBOY: The majority of those on the 
enemies list ranged politically from lib-
eral to radical. Did you share the Presi-
dent's intolerance of people on the left 
and of the center in general? 
DEAN: No, I didn't. Let me give you an 
example of how Presidential policy in 
this area was made and how I'd deal 
with it sometimes. During the second 
Inauguration, a man charged out from 
the crowd along Pennsylvania Avenue 
toward the President's car. No one saw 
this on television; hardly anyone knew it 
had happened. He broke through the 
police line, but that was as far as he got; 
almost immediately, two Secret Service 
agents had him down on his back with 
their feet on him. But that night I re-
ceived a call from the head of the Presi-
dential Secret Service protection detail 
saying that the President wanted that 
man prosecuted. The guy had already 
been turned over to the Metropolitan 
Police and interrogated and he turned 
out to be a taxi driver from New York 
with antiwar sentiments who was just 
trying to make his point by breaking 
through the lines. He had no other mo-
tive; he wasn't armed; there was no 
threat to the President. 

But the next day, at the Sunday-
morning reception following the church 
service - after the Inauguration, the 
President paused in the reception line 
and said to me very adamantly, "John, I 
want that man who broke the lines pros-
ecuted. I want you to take care of that." 
And I got follow-up calls from Halde-
man and Larry Higby demanding to 
know what I was doing about that 
guy. Well, I had looked into it and tried 
to find out what there was to it in terms 
of a potential offense, but all he'd done 
was break some regulatory statute by 
going through police lines during a pa-
rade. Anyway, the Secret Service and the 
Metropolitan Police prepared a detailed 
report, and it was sent over to the dis-
trict attorney's office, where the deputy 
D.A. talked to Henry Petersen about 
it. I told Petersen that the President 
wanted this man prosecuted. He . said 
OK, studied the case, called me back and 
said, "John, we'd really have to stretch it 
to prosecute this guy." I said, "Henry, 
that's all I need." So I just wrote on top 
of the file, "Petersen says no prosecution 
possible" and filed it. Thank God I 
never heard anything more about it. 
They just forgot about it. 
PLAYBOY: Many of those at the top of the 
enemies list were members of the press, 
which the Administration wanted the 
public to believe was out to crucify the 
President. Did you believe it really was? 
DEAN: No, not really. I think the press's at-
titude was and is fine. But I don't think 
he thought the press was out to get him, 
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either. The tapes show that. Remember 
where he said, "Well, we're carrying 
a lot of the press this time"? Particularly 
during the campaign, there was a lot of 
editorial support for the President at 
both ends of the political spectrum. 
I think there's been a bit of overplay 
about Presidential paranoia toward the 
press, particularly by the press itself. 
There's no doubt that there were ele-
ments in the press that the White House 
staff was convinced were out to discredit 
the President. These they defined as "en-
emies," and said, "We'll get them later." 
A perfect example is The -Washington 
Post. But it isn't true that Nixon was 
paranoid about the whole press. If any-
thing, his Administration tried to manip-
ulate the press to its own will more than 
any previous Administration, particularly 
with regard to Watergate. There was a 
large part of the staff at the White House 
that handled relations with the press. Dur-
ing Watergate, I became very involved in 
seeing what was happening with the press, 
how it was misled. how leaks were being 
put out and controlled. The Nixon White 
House had a superb news-management 
apparatus. 
PLAYBOY: But it didn't stop with news 
management. When the Administration 
used FCC license-renewal powers as a 
club to subdue local TV stations, and 
when Ehrlichman hinted to CBS News 
head Richard Salant, over an outwardly 
friendly breakfast, that he should send 
White House correspondent Dan Rather 
back' to Texas; that was intimidation, not 
news management. 
DEAN: No question about it. But I think 
we've found that the press is independ-
ent and strong enough to have survived 
that experience and perhapsenierFa 
from it. 
PLAYBOY: In the daily news summaries 
that were prepared for the President by 
the White House staff, was there any 
slanting or censorship of what was pub-
lished about the Administration? 
DEAN: No, I'd say that the news sum-
maries were, by and large, fairly accurate 
representations of • the wire-service stories 
and magazine reports. 
PLAYBOY: Tbey didn't play to Nixon's 
prejudices? 
DEAN: In some instances they did. For 
example, every now and then, they 
would attach a batch of political car-
toons to the news summaries. But I never 
saw them attach any of the hostile ones. 
PLAYBOY: Then Nixon had something 
of a false sense of security with regard 
to public opinion about the Adminis-
tration? 
DEAN: Well, he got that mostly from his 
staff. But he did read The Washington 
Post and The New York Times. In many 
instances, he'd talk about things he'd read 
in the dailies. 
PLAYBOY: Was he as isolated as we've 
been led to believe? 

DEAN: Yes, very isolated. One thing that 
impressed me early on was his refusal 
to deal directly with most members 
of his staff. Everything was so channeled 
through Haldeman and Ehrlichman and 
Kissinger that he seldom got the flavor 
of what the rest of his staff was thinking. 
An option paper might be sent in, but 
that wasn't the same as having the man 
who wrote it argue that option in front 
of you and being able to ask him ques-
tions about it. 
PLAYBOY: Were any of those options that 
were offered to Nixon the kind that 
could have been expected to be unpopu-
lar with him, or were they narrowed to 
those his senior staff thought he could 
deal with? 

? DEAN: 1 think the options ran the gamut. 
. PLAYBOY: It's been reported in the press 

that Nixon could deal with any kind of 
criticism as long as it was in written 
form, but that he simply couldn't toler-
ate any kind of face-to-face confronta-
tion. Is that true? 
DEAN: Well, let me give you a brief ex-
ample from the morning he asked for 
my resignation. I refused to give it to 
him without the assurance that Halde-
man and Ehrlichman were also going to 
resign. I was very surprised by his re-
action to my refusal. He was flustered. 
He was nervous. And he caved in. He 
had obviously been misleading me when 
he said that he already had Haldeman's 
and Ehrlichman's resignations in hand, 
because he then said, "Why don't you go 
draft a letter that they can use for a 
model, too?" When I read the transcript 
of the conversation that followed, at the 
point when Haldeman and Ehrlichman 
walked in after I had left, I was amazed 
to read that he told them how tough he'd 
been with me. He'd been anything but 
tough. I thought to myself: This is the 
man who deals with foreign leaders? 
PLAYBOY: What do you think held 
Nixon, Haldeman and Ehrlichman to-
gether? Was it friendship, the loyalty of 
a shared past or just a shared paranoia—
or merely a pragmatic understanding 
that they'd have to stand together or go 
down together? 
DEAN: Someday, when all the trials are 
over, I'll give you the answers to all these 
questions. And I'd add one more name 
to the list you mentioned—that of John 
Mitchell—and tell-you; for example, how 
he felt about being Attorney General. 
I'll also tell you exactly how Haldeman 
became Chief of Staff; how he made Ehr-
lichman; and why Nixon needed them all. 
PLAYBOY: That's all you're going to tell us 
now? 
DEAN: Sorry. 
PLAYBOY: Haldeman, Chapin, Ziegler 
and others on the White House staff 
made up what some have termed the 
West Coast Mafia. Were you aware that 
these people were known, as long ago as 

their days in USC campus politics, for 
the kind of "dirty tricks" later made in-
famous by Watergate and its related 
scandals? 
DEAN: No, not really. I'd had dealings 
with many of the White House staff while 
I was working at the Department of Jus-
tice. But I learned about past "dirty 
trickery"—if that's what it can be called—
only after Prniig-IMINfrraTiattrricew 
about their clubbishness, of course, but 
I wasn't invited to join the club for some 
time after I became a member of the staff, 
and I did very little socializing with them 
even after I was a member of the club, 
so to speak. I socialized with them just 
enough to know that their idea of a good 
time was talking shop together, playing 
at playing tennis and talking more shop. 
That wasn't my idea of a good time. 
PLAYBOY: Did you ever really become part 
of the inner club at the White House? 
DEAN: I certainly was on the way to be-
coming one of the President's boys after 
I began having dealings directly with 
him. I was getting reports back from 
Haldeman and Ehrlichman that the 
President liked me very much and, from 
Colson, that he was very fond of me. 
The President even tried to get me to 
talk at Cabinet meetings, because he 
liked my delivery. Nixon was very image-
conscious and apparently liked the 
image I portrayed as one of his men. I 
also discovered, in reading the tran-
scripts of some of the discussions at 
which I wasn't present, that Haldeman 
talked about my being a lot tougher 
than they thought I was going to be. 
Well, that's the kind of talk that makes 
Dean one of the boys, too. In the tape of 
a subsequent conversation, on the other 
hand, Haldeman said something like, 
"Dean's a good detail man; he remem-
bers all those little things everybody else 
forgets about. But he's the kind of guy 
who ought to work in the background; 
we don't want him up front." 
PLAYBOY: Perhaps they thought they 
couldn't quite trust you, that you weren't 
quite flexible—or pragmatic—enough to 
suit them. 
DEAN: Well, I didn't think as they did on 
a lot of things. For example, Haldeman 
used to tease me for preferring my 
Porsche 911T to a White House chauf-
feured car. And other members of the 
staff seemed almost jealous of me when 
I was single. As one of them put it, "Kiss-
inger gets all the press as the White 
House bachelor swinger, while Dean 
gets all the action—but no headlines." 
Despite all these incompatibilities, how-
ever, Haldeman and I worked well to-
gether and became good friends. 
PLAYBOY: Maybe that was his pragma-
tism. Was Haldeman really as cold and 
as tough as everybody seemed to think he 
was? 
DEAN: Well, he never turned on me, but 
I saw him turn on other people in my 
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presence with that glaring look that was 
captured once on television during the 
Senate Watergate hearings when he was 
looking at Weicker. Do you remember 
that political cartoon showing Haldeman 
as the Frankenstein monster? I never saw 
that monster look at me, but I probably 
will when I testify during the Watergate 
trial. I've been told that I'm not on 
his "friends list" anymore. 
PLAYBOY: Was that his weapon—the glare? 
DEAN: The look, the heavy words—and 
the terse notes. You'd work on some-
thing very carefully and he'd shoot it 
down in one or two abrupt lines. He, on 
the other hand, used to say that he would 
often get a memo from me that would 
send him to the dictionary. I'd occasion-
ally pick out a good 35-cent word and 
throw it in, because it was sort of fun 
to lighten up many of the ponderous 
memoranda. 
PLAYBOY: It was reported that long after 
resigning, Haldeman continued to call 
the White House almost every day. Was 
he still pulling the strings? 
DEAN: Well, knowing Haldeman, I don't 
think he'd make idle calls just out of 
force of habit. 
PLAYBOY: So there may have been a 
kind of Hoffa-running-the-Teamsters-
from-prison thing going on? 
DEAN: That's your characterization, not 
mine. 
PLAYBOY: Nixon's other chief lieutenant 
was Ehrlichrnari. What sort of man was 
he to deal with? 
DEAN: It would take a-.hundred stories to 
get the full picture of the man I knew, 
but let me just tell you one now. I 
remember one time discussing with 
Ehrlichman a very serious problem about 
the methods of the campaign advance 
men, which I felt had to be changed. 
There was an incident down in Char-
lotte, North Carolina, and another one 
in Ohio, where they physically threw 
some people out of a hall because they 
had come to demonstrate. The demon-
strators would go in one door and the ad-
vance men would have the ushers look at 
their tickets, say they were the wrong 
ones, tear them up and then run them 
down this chute right out of the build-
ing. This was a potential criminal viola-
tion of their constitutional rights, and I 
discussed this with Ehrlic.hman. I'd writ-
ten a rather strong memo for the ad-
vance men to put in their manual, saying 
that they shouldn't do this sort of thing 
or they were going to face lawsuits—
and eventually, that's what happened. 
But when I mentioned all this to Ehr-
lichman, he said, "Hell, that's nothing. 
You should have seen the operation we 
had at Madison Square Garden. We put 
people down in a tunnel, and when they 
came up, they didn't even know what 
city they were in." 
PLAYBOY: Ehrlichman has been convicted 
of supervising at least one of the opera-

76 tions of the White House plumbers. Do 

you agree with those who feel that the 
plumbers were a kind of secret police 
force, or were they, as others seem to 
think, little more than a tin-soldier 
operation? 
DEAN: Well, that group was certainly 
more than a tin-soldier operation, but I 
think characterizing it as a secret police 
force would be a bit of an overstatement. 
It was too small and there was no real 
machinery operating. When I think of 
secret police, I think of something on the 
scale of Hitler's SS and Stalin's N.K.V.D. 
PLAYBOY: However you want to charac-
terize the plumbers' unit, why was it 
formed? 

!DEAN: The way I see it is that there was 
a do-it-yourself attitude in the White 

''House. You couldn't trust the FBI or the 
IA to undertake improper activities, so 

you did them yourself and you did them 
'better. And you didn't have to worry 
about somebody's having something on 
you. Even in past administrations, the 
White House, the CIA and the FBI had 
used leverage against one another. 
PLAYBOY: If you don't consider the 
plumbers' unit at least the nucleus for a 
secret police, how about the Huston 
plan, with its blueprints for surrepti-
tious entry, electronic surveillance, polit-
ical sabotage and the like? 
DEAN: Now, the Huston plan does smack 
to me very much of plans for setting up 
a secret police force. 
PLAYBOY:- Weren't you involved in its 
preparation? 
DEAN: No, that had all been done during 
late 1969 and early 1970, before I arrived 
at the White House. What apparently 
had happened was that Tom Huston had 
burned his bridges to the director of the 
FBI, J. Edgar Hoover, in setting this up. 
He had recommended things in his plan 
that Hoover opposed, even though Hoo-
ver in his earlier years had resorted to 

Imany of them. But Hoover wanted to 
ride out of the FBI on a white horse and 

'; he was annoyed with Huston for per-
suading the President to go ahead any-
way. So Haldeman gave the Huston plan 
to me and asked me to see what I could 
do to implement it. It wasn't my kind of 
project, so I took it to Mitchell. He wasn't 
very keen on it, either, since he'd al-
ready had a problem with Hoover on it. 
So we took the innocuous first step of 
setting up an evaluation committee. 
Fortunately, it never got beyond that 
point. 
PLAYBOY: Whether it went further or 
not—and there's a good deal of debate 
about that point—don't you think the 
Huston plan crystallizes the abuses of 
the Administration? 
DEAN: I'm going to answer one of the 
questions that was never asked me on 
the stand: Yes, I do, and that's why I 
took that document, outlining the Hus-
ton plan, with me when I left the White 
House. I hoped that the President would 

step forward and tell the truth and that 
my conversations with him would then be 
irrelevant. But I thought that if the day 
ever came when I had to tell what I knew 
about Richard Nixon and Watergate, no 
one would believe my unsupported testi-
mony. They might believe me, though, if 
they saw in writing the sort of thinking 
and planning that went on. This was the 
only thing I knew of—in my possession—
that showed the President of the United 
States involved in criminal activity and 
evidenced his utter disregard of the Con-
stitution and the law of the land under 
the guise of national security. 
PLAYBOY: You've talked about your dis-
taste for getting involved with projects 
such as the Huston plan and the ene-
mies list. Why didn't you refuse to work 
on them? 
DEAN: I .would have had to resign within 
the first month I arrived on the job, and 
I wanted to find out how the White 
House really operated. 
PLAYBOY: Is that why you didn't resign? 
DEAN: I almost did—just before the re-
election. I had gotten into very serious 
discussions in September of 1971 with 
outside people about leaving Govern-
ment, and had received some wonderful 
job offers. Haldeman finally appealed to 
me and said, "You've got to stay at least 
through the elections. It's a matter of 
loyalty. We brought you over here and 
gave you this opportunity and but for 
that, you wouldn't have gotten these 
new job offers. You'll have plenty more 
after the election." So I stayed on, not 
out of any great sense of loyalty but just 
because it seemed to be the decent thing 
to do. They had given me the opportu-
nity of a lifetime, and I felt I owed it to 
them to stay on. 
PLAYBOY: What was it that had tempted 
you to leave? 
DEAN: I had become very tired of life at 
the White House. After I had been there 
about a year, I was ready to leave. I knew 
more than I wanted to know. It just 
didn't fit with the way I worked. As I've 
indicated, I didn't agree with Haldeman 
and Ehrlichman -and the rest on a lot of 
issues. And I didn't approve of some of 
the things that went on. I'm reluctant to 
say all this, because I know it sounds self-
serving, but it happens to be the truth. I 
was very unhappy, for example, knowing 
that Jack Caulfield—whom I liked as a 
person—had been assigned to my staff, 
knowing the kind of dirt that he was 
collecting on Teddy Kennedy: that 
bothered me. And Huston, with his 
plan, had been assigned to my staff; 
that kind of thing wasn't my bag. either. 
And the whole media orientation—that 
huge public-relations apparatus—of the. 
White House bothered me. I wanted to 
be a lawyer. I enjoyed the part of the 
job that involved being a lawyer, but I 
didn't enjoy the rest of it. 
PLAYBOY: You say you didn't enjoy your 



pi job. That seems a rather bland reaction 
0 to the kind of things you had to do. 

Don't you find the Administration's ex- 
tralegal activities, its attempts to pre-

mi empt the FBI and the CIA, disturbing-

114 even Orwellian? 
DEAN: Yes, I do, especially in retrospect. 

1.1 As a matter of fact, last summer I reread 
1:14 1981 and after several years at the Nixon 

White House, it made fascinating, almost 
frightening reading. 
PLAYBOY: Do you see parallels? 
DEAN: The whole thing, including dou-
blethink. If something was said yesterday, 
you could put out a new statement today 
that would completely change it. 
PLAYBOY: You mean "render it inopera-
tive." 
DEAN: Exactly. I'm surprised Orwell 
didn't use that phrase. Anyway, when 
you picked up the newspaper in the 
morning and read the new cover story 
that had replaced yesterday's cover story, 
you began to believe that today's news 
was the truth. This process created an 
atmosphere of unreality in the White 
House that prevailed to the very end. 
PLAYBOY: You mean those who made up 
the stories were believing their own lies? 
DEAN: That's right. If you said it often 
enough, it would become true. When the 
press learned of the wire taps on news-
men and White House staffers, for ex-
ample, and flat denials failed, it was 
claimecl.,that this was a national-security 
matter. I'm sure many people believed 
that the taps were for national security; 
they weren't. That was concocted as a 
justification after the fact. But when they 
said it, you understand, they really be-
lieved it. 
PLAYBOY: National security is a defense 
Nixon used to justify almost every offense 
committed in the course of Watergate. 
How would you define it? 
DEAN: National security is like that 
vague term Executive privilege. Both 
terms have been abused; both concepts 
have been damaged; they've been used 
as shields for secrecy. To me, national 
security deals with clear and present 
dangers, posed by a foreign nation 
or an internal saboteur, that threaten 
the sovereignty of our country or the 
very foundations and workings of our 
Government. 
PLAYBOY: Would that include Daniel 
Ellsberg's theft of the Pentagon papers? 
How did Nixon feel privately about 
Ellsberg? 
DEAN: Well, since the case relating to the 
break-in at the office of Ellsberg's psychia-
trist is on appeal, I've got to demur in 
that area. I wasn't called as a witness in 
that one. In fact, when the judge who 
tried the case heard that I wasn't on the 
witness list, he said, "Thank God Dean 
isn't testifying here, too." Although the 
prosecutors told me they might call me as 
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PLAYBOY: Why did you choose to break 
the news of the burglary of Ellsberg's 
psychiatrist's office? 
DEAN: I was dealing with the prosecutors 
at the time and I realized that if I didn't 
tell them what I knew about it, I could 
be charged with another offense—ob-
struction of justice—when I was trying 
to tell them what offenses I'd already 
been involved in. I also knew that my 
knowledge could affect the outcome of 
Ellsberg's trial. I didn't know, you see, if 
the break-in was justified by threats to na-
tional security, but I didn't think so. 
Everybody at the White House was tell-
ing me it was, but I always told them I 
didn't think that would sell. 
PLAYBOY: Was Nixon being a conscious 
hypocrite when he used national security 
as grounds to justify the break-in? 
DEAN: I think he wanted to believe that, 
because it would justify the break-in. As 
I said before the Senate committee, I 
just don't think he realized the implica-
tions of some of the things that went on. 
Now, that doesn't mean I think he was 
unaware that these things were wrong, 
but because he was the President, he felt 
he could make them right—merely be-
cause he said so. The power of the Presi-
dent is so enormous that I think when 
Nixon sought to justify something, it was 
for him, as for all believers, not only the 
truth but the law. 
PLAYBOY: Sounds like the doctrine of pa-
pal infallibility. 
DEAN: For some it nearly was. To the be-
lievers, Presidential statements rang ex 
cathedra. Others went along less out of 
faith than out of fear—fear that they'd 
lose their jobs. Whenever people left 
their White House jobs or were eased 
out, breaking the cord was a wrenching 
experience for them. They missed the 
White House mess, where they could eat 
in luxury. They missed the limousines, 
the helicopters, the White House pass 
and stationery, the telephones with 400 
buttons on them, the rides in 707s that 
hold only 34 people—and most of all 
the status that goes with saying, "I work 
at the White House." 
PLAYBOY: Is it healthy for Presidential 
advisors to wield so much power? 
Shouldn't such appointments be subject 
to Congressional approval? 
DEAN: I wouldn't advocate that. I think 
each President, as each Senator who picks 
his administrative aide and each judge 
who picks his law clerk, should be able 
to pick the men he can work with. The 
responsibility should fall on him to pick 
the right people. But I would like to see 
a more dominant Cabinet. The Nixon 
Cabinet, for the most part. was totally 
controllable by the White House staff. A 
strong Cabinet member should be able to 
tell a White House staffer, "Buzz off" or 
"Have the President call me himself and 
I'll tell him why I'm doing what I am." 
PLAYBOY: But if staff appointments aren't 

even subject to cursory Congressional 
investigation, where's the accountability? 
DEAN: The accountability must rest with 
the President. We can't overreact to a 
Watergate to the point of hampering the 
operations of any President we're unhap-
py with. The advise-and-consent process 
wouldn't solve this for the White House 
staff. 
PLAYBOY: How do you feel about the 
proposal we began to hear, toward the 
end, that the Nixon Administration 
should be dissolved for lack of confi-
dence, as in the British parliamentary 
system? 
DEAN: That's not a viable option. I've 
had an awful lot of mail from people 
on just this issue, and that's made me 
think a lot about it. I think our system is 
very workable as is. It may be that we 
were simply lucky this time that the sys-
tem worked so well. Indeed, the system 
has been tested by Watergate in a way 
it's never been tested before. All branches 
of Government responded with incredi-
ble performance—the Congress with its 
hearings and its impeachment inquiry, 
and the courts in handling the evidence-
gathering and criminal-justice aspects of it. 
PLAYBOY: Those are magnanimous sen-
timents coming from a man who's been 
sentenced to prison for one to four years. 
Considering the fact that the term you 
have to serve is heavier than those meted 
out to all others who admitted complicity 
much later than you, do you think your 
sentence was fair? 
DEAN: Well, frankly, the severity of my 
sentence surprised me. I had thought 
that when Magruder was sentenced to 
ten months to four years, that that sort 
of represented the perimeter of what I 
might expect myself, because Magruder 
was involved not only in the cover-up 
but in the planning of Watergate and 
in countless perjury situations; whereas—
though there's no doubt about my par-
ticipation in the cover-up--I had never 
perjured myself, I had not been involved 
in the actual planning and _ the record 
is pretty clear that, in my own way, I 
had tried to stop it from occurring. So 
I was surprised when my sentence ex-
ceeded Jeb's. 

But I have to consider the fact that 
Judge Sirica has been accused of being 
pro-prosecution, and if he in any way 
coddled the Government's star witness 
with a light sentence, there could be an-
other motion to disqualify him. Also, 
the prosecutors' case would be stronger. 
since they obviously had done no favors 
for their key witness. So sometimes you 
might have to pay an extra price for tell-
ing the truth. But, being a lawyer, I 
realize that the system is capable of self-
correction and by the time this interview 
comes out, we'll know if I'm right in hop-
ing that it may do so in my case. The 
judge has 120 days from the day he sen-
tences to modify it in any way he may 



see fit. I can only pray he'll reconsider in 
the light of my effort to right the wrongs 
of Watergate and reduce what I cannot 
but feel is a very harsh punishment. 
PLAYBOY: How do you feel about having 
to serve time in prison for carrying out 
the orders of a man who has now been 
totally exonerated for issuing them? 
DEAN: Well, I don't believe that Richard 
Nixon has been or ever shall be totally 
exonerated. While it's true that he's 
been pardoned for any Federal crimes 
he may have committed as President, he 
can't escape the judgment of history. 
Nor can President Ford's pardon free 
him from the guilt of his own con-
science. Only the truth can set him free, 
and Nixon has rejected his freedom. 
Speaking for myself, I would rather ad-
mit that I have done wrong, accept my 
punishment—despite the inequity it rep-
resents—and long for the day when I'll 
leave prison a totally free man. 
PLAYBOY: How do you think history shall 
judge Nixon? And how do you think he 
wants to be remembered? 
DEAN: Let me answer the second part 
first. During my time at the White 
House, I was very aware of the fact that 
elaborate plans were being devised, 
through the Nixon Foundation, for the 
President's future Presidential library. It 
was going to be a vehicle by which Rich-
ard Nixon could continue to influence 
American politics and make history as 
long as he was so inclined. 
PLAYBOY: How? 
DEAN: By means of everything from tele-
vision specials to control over rights to 
the books written by those who worked 
for him. Now, of course, as a result of 
Watergate, it's going to be very difficult 
to raise the money for that operation. As 
to how history will judge Nixon, that de-
pends upon what the future holds for 
the former President. I think the decision 
not to prosecute him will influence his 
role in history. There's also the question 
of whether or not there will be further 
revelations involving him. I believe there 
will be. 
PLAYBOY: Big ones? 
DEAN: Big ones. 
PLAYBOY: Things you know about but 
don't want to talk about? 
DEAN: Things I can't talk about now. 
Maybe I should say it's "national secu-
rity"! Not really. I just think there are 
going to be further revelations and that 
these, too, will influence history. Another 
factor will be the former President's de-
cision on whether or not finally to come 
around and say, "Yes, I did these things 
and here's what they were. Some of them 
were bad. But I also did a lot of good 
things." I think history will judge him 
much more kindly if he does that. Other-
wise, how can you know whether it was 
really Richard Nixon or Henry Kissinger 
who decided to go to China? If he doesn't 

80 make a clean breast of Watergate, there 

will always be a question about his 
credibility on everything else ever accom-
plished during his Administration. 
PLAYBOY: Because of Watergate, almost 
a dozen men are serving or have served 
time in prison. But some people question 
whether justice is being served even be-
hind bars. The prison in which you're 
going to be confined, for example, has 
been called a country club among deten-
tion facilities. Do you think it's fair that 
Barker, Martinez and several of the other 
Watergate burglars served time in harsher 
quarters? 
DEAN: Well, there are different types of 
prisons for different types of offenders. 
I mean, should you put someone who's 
committed burglary or murder in a cell 
alongside a bank embezzler? 
PLAYBOY: What bothers you most about 
going to prison? 
DEAN: I think the toughest thing is the 
punishment it's going to force on my 
wife and the situation it places her in. 
We're very close and interdependent, 
and this is going to be a tremendous 
shock for her, and a heavy burden, given 
the fact that her mother is very ill. 
PLAYBOY: Won't imprisonment be a shock 
and a burden for you, too? 
DEAN: Of course. I take some comfort, 
though, in the fact that Mo's going to 
be very busy writing a book while I'm 
away. During the period when I was so 
consumed with preparing my testimony 
and with my court and Congressional 
appearances, I suggested that she keep a 
diary of her reactions to what was going 
on. She has a fine, perceptive mind, and 
she's a good writer. I've read some of 
what she's written so far—she started 
keeping her diary in April of '73, and it 
runs up to the present—and it's such a 
fresh perspective on the whole thing that 
I asked Hays Gorey, a writer friend, to 
help her turn it into a book. I think it 
will provide a side to the story of Water-
gate that no one else could ever provide. 
Plus, you know, how our own relation-
ship underwent strain at times—espe-
cially during that treadmill period of 
cover-up, cover-up, cover-up—and how 
the experience we've gone through since 
then has brought us closer together. I 
believe she has something to share with 
other women, and with men—something 
that may help others in time of crisis. 
PLAYBOY: How do you plan to spend your 
time in prison? 
DEAN: I'll be very busy for the first sev-
eral months preparing for my testimony 
as a witness in upcoming trials. 
PLAYBOY: And after they're over? 
DEAN: Well, I'm not given to idleness. I 
plan to do a lot of studying and a lot of 
reading for pleasure. 
PLAYBOY: Induding All the President's 
Men? 
DEAN: I said reading for pleasure. 
PLAYBOY: Are you going to do any writing? 
DEAN: If I do, it won't be on my own 

Watergate book. That will have to come 
later. 
PLAYBOY: After you're out? 
DEAN: Long after. There are many other 
things I want to do with myself. 
PLAYBOY: You don't think you'll have 
trouble finding a job? 
DEAN: On the contrary. A great many 
people seem to want me for jobs that 
run the gamut. Some I'm very suspicious 
of; they're obviously for publicity pur-
poses. But others are legitimate offers 
that are very interesting. I'm really not 
worried about that. I don't-know what I'll 
do when I'm out of prison, but I do know 
I'll never again allow myself to get into 
the rat-race type of life I once led. Life is 
too short and I intend to stop and smell 
the flowers. I'm also going to spend a 
lot of time with my wife, who is my best 
friend. And with my other friends. And 
traveling. 

And I have a few pet projects. I intend 
to start on at least one of them while 
I'm still in prison. For example, I think 
that the Japanese-Americans who were 
incarcerated during World War Two got 
from the American Government some of 
the worst treatment that has ever been 
administered to any group of people. I've 
collected material on this for years, and 
I've talked with many nisei who suffered 
at the hands of our Government, which 
never really made any amends. I think 
it owes something in restitution to the 
Japanese-Americans. And when I come 
out, I'm going to make it one of my top 
priorities to see that they get it. Thanks 
to my years of experience in Govern-
ment—the invaluable opportunity I've 
had to find out from the inside how it 
works—I know there's a great deal I can 
do, and I know exactly how to go about 
it. So, even though it ended badly—and 
rather early—I hope my career in Govern-
ment hasn't been a total write-off. 
PLAYBOY: At the end of his testimony, 
White House aide Gordon Strachan told 
the Ervin committee that he would ad-
vise young people to stay away from 
Government service. Would you agree 
with that? 
DEAN: No. In fact, I would give the op-
posite advice. I'd like to encourage as 
many young people as possible to get 
into Government. It needs their energy 
and their idealism, and it would' re-
spond; politics doesn't have to be a dirty 
word. The more young people—those 
who were the most indignant about the 
abuses of Watergate—get involved, the 
less likely it is that a Watergate could 
ever happen again. In fact, because of 
Watergate, I don't think it ever will. 
PLAYBOY: It's been observed that Wash-
ington scandals seem to run in 50-year 
cycles. 
DEAN: Well, I think we've got at least 
100 years to wait this time. At least I 
hope so. 
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